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To resolve short-term insurance complaints fairly, efficiently and impartially.

The theme for the Annual Report of the Ombudsman appears to be of 
some interest to many.  This year we are departing from the approach of 
previous years where the theme involved a particular type of insurance 
policy. Let us for a moment remind ourselves of our communal duty to 
safeguard our South African habitat, the home to one of the most abundant 
and diverse wildlife populations on our planet.  We are therefore focusing 
on some of our endangered bird species as being representative of the 
threat to our environment.  Let us all contribute towards removing the risks 
which threaten their survival.  

Critically Endangered: Facing extreme high risk of extinction in the 
wild. 50% chance of going extinct in 5 years.
Endangered: Facing a very high risk of extinction in the wild. 20% chance 
of going extinct in 20 years.
Vulnerable: Facing a high risk of extinction in the wild. 100% chance of 
going extinct in 100 years.
Near-Threatened: Likely to become Vulnerable in the near future (five 
years) or which is the focus of taxon-specific or habitat-specific conservation 
programmes targeted towards the taxon in question.

Mission

Theme

Threatened species definitions
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In South Africa, the Pel’s Fishing Owl occurs along the perennial 
rivers in the eastern parts of the country.  The rivers’ flow 
dynamics have unfortunately changed, and many are polluted. 
The management of the catchment areas of the rivers will 
have to be improved to resolve the threats facing these owls.

Pel’s Fishing Owl

We may not insure them

STATUS:  VULNERABLE

NORMAN ARLOTT ©

but we can ensure their survival
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South Africa’s national bird, the Blue Crane’s numbers are 
declining, especially in the grasslands, and its core area is now 
on artificial wheat-field habitat in the Western Cape. Habitat 
destruction and collisions with powerlines are two of the most 
important threats.

Blue Crane

STATUS:   VULNERABLE

© PETER HAYMAN
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The Cape Parrot has a small and declining population, and 
is threatened by disease, exploitation of its nest trees, and a 
reduction in its forest habitat.

Cape Parrot

STATUS: ENDANGERED
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Report from the Chairman of the Board

2011 was an eventful year for the OSTI office and Board, 

mirroring the environment in which we operate locally and 

globally.  The Ombudsman has in his report provided an excellent 

backdrop synopsis of the global economic outlook. It was also 

eventful as a result of the office’s own internal operational and 

strategic imperatives. 

Operationally, the office made it a priority to reduce the 

turnaround time on resolving complaints, using some innovative 

incentives like extra leave privileges for staff, the opportunity 

to attend conferences and the like. We managed to reduce the 

turnaround time overall from an average of 233 days in 2009 

to 223 in 2011. An additional area of focus was the so-called 

“six months list” – those complaints outstanding and unresolved 

for more than six months. This is an important touch-point 

for policyholders, insurers and the office itself, as the longer a 

matter takes to be resolved, the more it costs in management 

time, disbursements, interest and, most of all, inconvenience to 

policyholders.  The office devised some innovative strategems for 

addressing this issue, including setting up a “swat team” of senior 

Assistant Ombudsmen to deal with the longer-outstanding 

matters. The list was reduced from 1935 matters in January 

2011 to about 1300 matters by year end. Our financial reserves 

remained constant and sufficient to ensure the continuity of 

GAIL WALTERS Chairman WENDY KNOWLER Vice-Chairman
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operations, although revenue was not as volatile as in some 

previous years. On the industry front, the former Ombudsman, 

Mr Brian Martin, commenced participation on behalf of the 

office on the FSB Treating Customers Fairly (TCF) steering 

committee through the banking Ombudsman, Clive Pillay. He 

also continued his meaningful role on the SAIA Consumer 

Education committee and provided useful views on the effect 

of the Consumer Protection Act to the SAIA Legislation and 

Regulation Committee. He also served on the SAIA Code 

Complaints Committee. Mr Martin continued his passionate 

efforts to create awareness amongst consumers about the 

office and the services it provides, no doubt feeding into the 

increased number of complaints we’ve received the past year.

At the OSTI AGM held on 28 June 2011, the members voted 

overwhelmingly in favour of several landmark Special Resolutions, 

which had already been passed unanimously by the OSTI Board, 

for enhancing the transparency and governance of the OSTI and 

its Board in the interests of all stakeholders. They include the 

introduction of an appeal process in terms of a draft tabled, 

proposals for the publication and increased transparency of the 

Ombudsman’s rulings and OSTI statistical data, the expansion 

of the Board through the addition of two independent non-

executive directors, one of whom will be elected Chairman 

of the Board, and increased impartiality in the nomination of 

consumer directors to serve on the Board.  These resolutions 

require formal approval of the FSOS Council before we can 

implement them and the FSOS Council meets four times per 

year.  The independent directors and nomination of consumer 

directors aspects were approved by the FSOS Council in January 

2012, but the appeal process and publication of data resolutions 

are still under discussion.

After many years of being located in the JCCI building in Milpark, 

the OSTI office moved to the beautiful bucolic Sunnyside 

Office Park, with more space, more parking, a more congenial 

atmosphere and working air conditioning. The move went very 

smoothly with no hiccups in connectivity for consumers and 

much nicer working conditions for our staff.  We held a convivial 

office-opening event in September with representatives from all 

our stakeholders present, including the media.

The Board underwent some changes during the year : Mr 

Gari Dhombo from Alexander Forbes replaced Mr Herman 

Schoeman, who after many years of committed service to the 

Board and the Office, decided not to stand for re-election. 

Mr Bolani took a leave of absence by agreement at the end 

of September 2011 to attend to Estate Agency Board issues, 

but remained a director. He formally resigned on 19 January 

2012 and has been replaced by Ms Thuli Zungu, who has a legal 

background and substantial experience of consumer affairs.  

The five-year term of office of the former Ombudsman, Mr 

Brian Martin, expired and his contract was not renewed by 

the Board. After an independent, outsourced process by an 

executive recruitment agency, a new appointment was made 

in the person of Mr Dennis Jooste, who assumed office on 1 

January 2012. To mark Mr Martin’s term of office, the office held 

a farewell luncheon in his honour, which was well attended by 

the OSTI staff, members of the industry, other Ombudsmen, 

the media and Mr Martin’s own guests. During his period in 

office, Mr Martin zealously tackled consumer education on 

managing risk and insurance issues in general, which will benefit 

consumers into the future. He embraced the principles of equity 

and fairness and energetically ensured a growing appreciation 

of the application of these concepts by the short-term industry. 

His dedication to resolving disputes was widely acknowledged. 

 

I would like to thank Mr Martin, on behalf of the Board and 

the office, for his work and dedication. I thank too my fellow 

Board members for their continuing commitment, energy 

and support. On behalf of the office and the Board, a sincere 

thank you to the industry for its continued support and spirit 

of co-operation in the resolving of disputes, acknowledging the 

valuable role that the office of the OSTI plays in the interests of 

all our stakeholders. As always, a big thank you too to our OSTI 

staff for their hard work.  

Gail Walters
Chairman of the Board
19 April 2012

Report from the Chairman of the Board
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Report by the Ombudsman

1.    The Terms of Reference require the Ombudsman to produce 

and publish an Annual Report on the activities of the office.  

The report for the year 2011 has been prepared by me as the 

current Ombudsman as I took office on the 1st January 2012.  

It follows that much of the content of this report is derived 

from enquiries which I have made in regard to the events and 

records of 2011.  

2.    The South African economy continues to show some 

resilience in the face of continuing uncertainty in the global 

economy.  While not to be equated to the financial crisis of 

2008, the consequences of that crisis continue to have an 

effect on all sectors of the local economy including the Short-

term Insurance industry.  The principal cause of international 

economic instability has been the European debt crisis with 

a debt repayment default by several Euro zone countries, but 

particularly by Greece, being a very real possibility during 2011.  

Towards the end of the year the European Union, including 

such institutions as the European Central Bank, finally took 

steps which narrowly avoided the threatened Greek default 

which would have had very negative consequences for the 

world economy.  Even at the time of preparing this report, 

there is no certainty that the bailout package as proposed and 

accepted by Greece will return the Euro zone economy to 

stability in the short term.  Indeed, this is most unlikely as the 

steps taken will require many years to bear fruit.  

3.    The growth in the South African gross domestic product is 

regrettably insufficient to provide meaningful employment 

to a substantial percentage of our unemployed workforce.  

Unemployment and job creation remain a top government 

priority.  However there are various inhibiting factors which 

cause local and overseas investors to hesitate before investing 

in South Africa. As the private sector is the primary generator 

of employment, it is to be hoped that the investment climate 

becomes more conducive to investor confidence, although 

fiscal discipline by the Reserve Bank and the National Treasury 

has greatly contributed to financial stability which is an obvious 

requirement for economic growth.

4.    Against this background there continues to be ongoing 

regulatory reform affecting the Short-term Insurance industry 

and consequently the office of the Ombudsman.  I will revert 

to these issues in more detail later.  Suffice it to say that during 

the year the office continued to operate very effectively.  The 

core function of the office, as set out in its mission statement, 

is to “resolve short-term insurance complaints fairly, efficiently 

and impartially”.  As such, we are part of the alternative 

dispute resolution movement in which there are many players  

 

involved. Unfortunately there has been no apparent progress 

in the promulgation of a new Arbitration Act to replace the 

existing 1965 Act which has been found to be deficient in 

certain respects by international investors. However, this has 

not arrested the increase in disputes being referred to a 

growing number of alternative dispute resolution institutions.  

5.    In resolving the disputes which are referred to this office, I am 

mindful of the requirements of the South African Constitution, 

particularly insofar as it deals with “administrative action” as 

defined.  A decision of the office of the Ombudsman constitutes 

such “administrative action”. Section 33 of the Constitution 

provides that everyone is entitled to administrative action 

that is lawful, reasonable and procedurally fair. In adjudicating 

disputes we give opposing parties every right to present the 

respective sides of an argument before making a decision.  

Indeed we have been criticized for being overly generous in 

providing parties repeated opportunities to furnish this office 

with additional facts, representations and arguments. This, in 

turn, has led to concern that the office takes too long to 

resolve disputes. However, as more fully referred to below, 

the time taken to resolve disputes has now stabilised and is 

showing slight signs of improvement. Hopefully, this trend can 

be maintained going forward.

6.    Section 34 of the Constitution provides that everyone has the 

right to have any dispute that can be resolved by the application 

of law decided in a fair public hearing before a court or, where 

appropriate, another independent and impartial tribunal 

or forum. The existence of an Ombudsman’s office does 

not preclude or infringe upon the right of complainants to 

choose to resolve disputes through the formal judicial process.  

However, if a complainant chooses to use the free service 

of the Ombudsman, the Constitution requires that a tribunal 

such as the Ombudsman’s office is totally independent and 

impartial. I have no reason to doubt the independence and 

impartiality of the Ombudsman’s office. 

7.    2011 also proved to be a year of reform for the office of  

the Ombudsman. 

 7.1  During November 2011 the Board agreed to increase 

the jurisdictional limits of the office to R2 million for 

both personal lines and commercial lines with a further 

limitation being a turnover limit of R25 million in regard 

to commercial line policies.  In addition to this, the Board 

agreed to increase the house owners claims jurisdiction to 

R4 million.  This increase in jurisdiction will inevitably bring 

an additional work load to the office which again underlies 

the criticality of proper staffing levels.  
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 7.2  Three special resolutions were passed at the Annual 

General meeting on the 28th June 2011 dealing with the 

following issues namely:

 •  An appeal mechanism to deal with rulings made by the 

Ombudsman.

 •   A resolution providing for the appointment of two new 

additional independent directors.

 •  A relaxation in the confidentiality rules which bind the 

Association.

The Proposed Appeal Mechanism

8.    There has never been an appeal mechanism in place since the 

office of the Ombudsman was established in the late 1980’s.  

During 2011 the issue was thoroughly debated and enjoyed 

overwhelming support. Whatever may be the arguments for 

or against an appeal mechanism, an appeal procedure was 

adopted by way of a special resolution at the Annual General 

Meeting already referred to. However, as is the case with all 

OSTI Special Resolutions, the resolution was subject to the 

approval of the Financial Services Ombud Scheme (“FSOS”) 

Council, which raised some concerns which are still being dealt 

with.  Accordingly, the appeal mechanism is not yet in force 

and I cannot predict with any certainty when this will happen. 

In broad outline, the appeal mechanism involves the following.

 8.1  Any party affected by a formal ruling or finding on the 

part of the Ombudsman may appeal to the appeal tribunal 

provided that leave to appeal has been given against such 

ruling or finding.  

 8.2  The appeal tribunal, consisting of a minimum of one and 

a maximum of three persons appointed on an ad hoc 

basis, shall be drawn from the ranks of retired judges, 

experienced legal and trained persons and other individuals 

with particular experience of the insurance industry.  

 8.3  Issues relating to costs and representation are still the 

subject of  discussion with the FSOS Council.

Expansion of the OSTI Board 

9.    The special resolution involving the appointment of two 

independent directors has been approved by the FSOS 

Council.  This means that two new independent directors 

are to be appointed by members of the Association at the 

2012 Annual General Meeting. The new resolution requires 

that such independent directors are drawn from the ranks of 

persons who by virtue of their training, expertise, experience 

in the business world and stature in the community are able 

to add to the standing of the Association in the eyes of all  

 

its stakeholders. A list of nominees is to be compiled by the 

Ombudsman in consultation with the full Board and it is then up 

to the members to make an election.  Furthermore, one of the 

two independent directors must become the Chairman.  After 

the implementation of these changes, the Board will consist of 

eleven members made up as to four directors representing 

consumer group interests, three directors representing the 

short-term insurance industry, a representative of SAIA in an 

ex-officio capacity, a representative from the Financial Services 

Board also as an ex-officio member and the two independent 

directors already referred to.  

Confidentiality

10.    The third resolution dealt with the issue of transparency. In 

terms of the existing Terms of Reference, the Ombudsman 

is obliged, as far as possible, to maintain confidentiality of 

any disputes referred to the office. The proposed resolution 

entitles the Ombudsman to publish details of rulings made 

by the office.  The FSOS Council requested clarification as 

to whether this would include the right to reveal the identity 

of the insurers and complainants involved. The special 

resolution envisages that the OSTI Board will be entitled to 

publish the names of the insurer but not of the policyholder. 

Subject to FSOS Council approval being obtained, in future 

the Ombudsman will publish details of rulings against every 

insurer by name.  In addition, we will also publish statistics 

including, but not necessarily limited to, the number of 

complaints, the rand value of complaints resolved and the 

overturn ratio.  The overturn ratio is the percentage per 

named insurer, of cases that are closed and in respect of 

which the insured received some benefit.  Such statistics will 

hereafter appear in the Annual Report.

Resources  

11.    The Board is committed to providing sufficient resources in all 

its forms to enable the office to operate efficiently.  Obviously 

this comes at a cost but unless properly staffed the office will 

inevitably fail to meet the expectations of the public at large 

and of all its other stakeholders.  The volume of complaints 

are more fully referred to below but the heavy workload 

of the office is not understood by many who have not had 

direct experience of what is involved.  Unfortunately, staff 

turnover is a reality and on every occasion when an Assistant 

Ombudsman or indeed the Ombudsman is replaced, this 

inevitably leads to some transitional adjustments having to be 

made.  It is therefore advisable that the office be resourced 

in order to accommodate such disruptions and to avoid an 

increase in turnaround times.  

Report by the Ombudsman
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12.    During May 2011 the office moved to new premises in 

Parktown.  The premises which the office had occupied in 

Auckland Park had over time proved to be unsuitable and 

a move to a new office environment has proved to be a 

great success.  Not only do we now operate in a more 

comfortable office environment, but we have room for 

expansion.  While some members of the staff initially raised 

concerns about transport issues these concerns have abated 

and unauthorised staff absenteeism is not a matter of concern.

Complaints Received

13.    During 2011 the total number of complaints received 

was 8969 compared to the prior year total of 8778.  This 

constituted an increase of 191 or 2% over the prior year.  This 

increase reverses the decline experienced in 2009 and 2010.  

However, it is still 794 less than the peak number experienced 

in 2008 when 9763 complaints were received. The figures 

seem again to confirm the direct correlation between the 

number of complaints received and the performance of 

the motor industry. A breakdown by policy type shows the 

same pattern as in previous years with motor claims being 

about 50% of the total followed by Homeowners and 

Householders claims.    

14.    Apart from the formal complaints already referred to, the 

office received 3159 “preliminary enquiries”, a miniscule 

increase of 35 over the prior year. These “preliminary 

enquiries” involve queries of a general nature from the 

public on matters which we cannot, at least at that stage, 

deal with because of various reasons including lack of 

jurisdiction and matters which cannot be dealt with due to 

lack of particularity.   Many of these complaints fall under the 

jurisdiction of other Ombudsmen. In this regard there is good 

co-operation between the various Ombudsman offices who 

regularly redirect complaints to the office having jurisdiction.  

15.    Our call centre which consists of five operators received 

a total number of 122,080 calls during 2011 compared 

to 104,834 in 2010. This shows a significant increase of 

17,246 or 16% over the prior year. This may indicate the 

growing public awareness of the office and the service that 

it offers.  However, it may also indicate growing consumer 

dissatisfaction. The average call duration was 1 minute 22 

seconds. Although this may appear to be a trivial statistic it 

shows how modern technology can be put to use. A call 

centre operator can and often does send a complaint form 

to a first-time caller by e-mail or fax while the caller is still 

on the line, thereby starting the dispute resolution process.  

16.    A Sharecall number 0800-OMBUDS was implemented 

successfully on the 1st January 2011 with the co-operation 

of other Ombudsmen.  It was agreed that for the first twelve 

month period the costs would be shared equally amongst the 

participating Ombud offices. However it has recently been 

agreed that costs would be shared on a pro-rata basis which 

means an effective reduction in our contribution to the costs.

Rand Value of Complaints Resolved

17.    I prefer not to refer to the amount of money “recovered” 

by the Ombudsman’s office as this seems to imply that 

we act in a role similar to that of the consumer’s attorney. 

I would measure the success of the office to be reflected 

in the number of complaints resolved during a particular 

year and not by reference to the rand value of complaints 

resolved.  As already mentioned, our role is to adjudicate 

disputes without bias in favour of any party or interest group.  

Nevertheless, the rand value of complaints resolved during 

the year was R117,740,245 compared to the prior year figure 

of R130,923,682 and R136,400,147 in 2009.  This is therefore 

the second consecutive year in which the figure has declined.  

Given that there is a lag time between the receipt of a 

complaint and its resolution, there is, not surprisingly, a clear 

correlation between the number of complaints received and 

the rand value of complaints resolved.  

Turnaround Time and Overturn Ratio

18.    A matter which has always been of concern to the office is 

the turnaround time. This refers to the average number of 

days which it takes to resolve a complaint. Between 2005 

and 2009 there was a dramatic increase from 86 to 233 

days. In 2010 the average time was reduced to 225 days 

and in 2011 to 223 days. In regard to turnaround time the 

procedures which have operated in the past continue to be 

implemented. Although the response time from both the 

complainant and the insurer is often unacceptable, regular 

meetings held with insurers to discuss disputed claims often 

produce positive results.    

19.    The overturn ratio is the percentage of resolved complaints 

which involves some benefit accruing to the complainant.  

Such benefit can take many forms including payment of a 

claim, refund of premium and the rectification of defective 

services where the insurer has elected to indemnify the 

insured through the appointment of its own independent 

contractors.  The overturn ratio for 2011 was 35% which is 

down from the 38% during 2010.  This is very much in line 

with international overturn ratios.

Report by the Ombudsman
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20.    Where benefits did so accrue it was as a result of a settlement 

mediated by the Ombudsman’s office or alternatively as a 

consequence of either recommendations or provisional 

rulings made by the office.  

Formal Rulings during 2011

21.    During 2011 ten formal rulings were made against insurers.  

This is a considerable increase over the 3 formal rulings 

made in 2010.  A total of 9827 complaints were resolved 

during the year and as previously stated of these 3430 

(35%) resulted in some benefit accruing to the policyholder.  

Seen in the light of these statistics, the ten formal rulings 

made constitute a miniscule percentage of matters resolved.  

Furthermore these ten rulings only involved three insurers 

which is indicative of the high level of acceptance that insurers 

have when considering the views of the office in regard to 

particular claims.  The ultimate goal would be that we do 

not have to make any formal rulings during any year but it 

is realistic to expect that on the odd occasion an insurer 

may feel very strongly about an issue, thereby resulting in a 

formal ruling.  

22.    Some of the larger insurers have appointed their own 

independent internal adjudicator. This is a development 

which is most welcome as the contribution of an internal 

adjudicator should be self-evident. It acts as a filter and 

eliminates unnecessary references to this office. I would 

encourage all our insurer members to consider making 

such appointments the norm rather than the exception as I 

believe the long term benefits will be substantial.

Operational Efficiencies

23.    The Board appointed a sub-committee to consider whether 

any operational efficiencies could be improved upon. The 

Board decided however that a further consideration of this 

issue and its implementation to the extent that changes were 

found to be necessary would await my attention as the new 

Ombudsman.  This issue is currently under review. 

Audit Committee and Internal Auditors

24.    The Audit Committee, which is appointed by the Board, 

assists the Board to discharge its responsibilities in terms 

of applicable legislation and accounting standards including, 

specifically, the Financial Services Ombud Schemes Act, 

the Companies Act, the International Financial Reporting 

Standards and corporate governance principles. The Audit 

Committee also provides assistance in regard to the 

adequate assessment and management of risk, the existence 

and effectiveness of internal controls and the effectiveness 

of accounting and management information systems. The 

Audit Committee at all times has access to the Chairman of 

the Board, the Ombudsman and the Operations Manager.  It 

also has unlimited access to all information which it needs to 

fulfil its duties and responsibilities and has the right to seek 

independent advice. The Audit Committee charter more 

fully describes the audit committee’s objectives, authority, 

functions and duties.

25.    The Audit Committee must have at least three members, at 

least one being a non-executive director of the Board with 

the majority not being in any way involved in an executive 

capacity with the Ombudsman’s office. Mr Andre Jordaan 

Southern Africa has one endemic vulture, the Cape Vulture, 
and its future is threatened by the unselective use of poisons, 
electrocution on electricity pylons, and declining food.

Cape Vulture

STATUS:  VULNERABLE

© PETER HAYMAN
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continues to be the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  The 

Audit Committee has produced a risk assessment document 

which identifies all risks in terms of low, medium and high 

risk and the measures to be taken to mitigate such risks.  

Appropriate insurance cover has been effected.  There is also 

a disaster recovery plan in place which deals amongst other 

things with data backup storage and a contingency plan in the 

event of serious damage or destruction to our offices. The 

Board has appointed SAB-T as the internal auditors. 

Consumer Education

26.    Before leaving office, my predecessor, Mr. Brian Martin, 

completed a new DVD dealing exclusively with vehicle 

insurance. We have subsequently ordered five hundred 

copies.  These will be distributed to various institutions and 

members of the public using various opportunities such as 

public seminars arranged from time to time by the National 

Credit Regulator.

27.     The office has a representative on the SAIA and the National 

Treasury Education Committees. It also participates in 

promotional events involving consumer education. These 

efforts occasionally include the free distribution of corporate 

gifts to publicise the existence of the office and the service 

it offers consumers.

28.    Several members of the staff appeared on television and gave 

radio interviews. In particular, my predecessor personally 

appeared on radio or television on many occasions during 

2011.  These opportunities were used to explain the role of 

the Ombudsman’s office and to educate the consumer.  The 

office continued to publish its quarterly newsletter which is 

posted on the Ombudsman website.  It is also distributed 

by the internet and e-mail. Hopefully these publications 

contribute substantially to consumer awareness of insurance 

issues.

Regulatory Matters Directly Affecting the Office

29.    The Consumer Protection Act 68 of 2008 came into 

force on the 1st April 2011.  There seems to be differing 

interpretations about the jurisdiction of the National 

Consumer Commissioner in relation to the various Ombud 

Schemes, including our own.  The better view seems to be that 

there is currently no change in the jurisdiction of this office.  

One reason is that the insurance industry has been exempted 

from the provisions of the Consumer Protection Act for at 

least 18 months after promulgation. In the meantime the  

activities of this office have not been materially affected by 

its promulgation. All interactions with the new Consumer 

Commission’s office are being handled by Mr. Clive Pillay, the 

Banking Ombudsman, on behalf of all voluntary Ombudsmen.

30.    The new Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 came into force on 

1st May 2011. We are now defined as a Non Profit Company 

being a company incorporated for a public benefit or an 

object related to one or more cultural or social activities 

or communal or group interests.  Our name must now end 

with the expression “NPC”.  The constitution of every type 

of company must now be reflected in only one document 

called the company’s “Memorandum of Incorporation”.  This 

document replaces both the Memorandum and the Articles 

of Association of existing companies.  All existing companies 

have until the 30th April 2013 to amend their founding 

documents to the extent necessary in order to bring them 

into harmony with the new Act.

31.    During March 2012 a complex and very extensive draft bill 

was published for public comment.  The bill is a direct result 

of the 2008 global financial crisis and is designed to bring 

into alignment the numerous pieces of legislation that now 

impact on the financial services industry.  This is a product 

of what was contained in the National Treasury policy 

statement which introduced the notion of the so-called 

“Twin Peaks” concept.  This anticipates that the regulation 

of the financial services industry will be administered on the 

one hand by the Reserve Bank and the Financial Services 

Board respectively.  The former will deal with issues ensuring 

the solvency of financial institutions and the latter will deal 

with the oversight of players in the financial services industry 

such as ourselves.

Staff Matters

32.    The five year contract of my predecessor expired at the 

end of December 2011 and I was appointed Ombudsman 

with effect 1st January 2012.  During his period of office, Mr. 

Martin showed great dedication and applied considerable 

energy in attempting to resolve disputes and in doing so, he 

applied the law and the concept of equity in a manner which 

he deemed to be appropriate. His emphasis on consumer 

education is recognised by all who are aware of the effort 

which he put into this particular function and which will no 

doubt benefit consumers in the future.  I would like to thank 

Mr. Martin for this work which will also continue to accrue 

to the benefit of this office during my term. One of the last 

assignments which he concluded was an educational DVD 

Report by the Ombudsman
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dealing exclusively with motor insurance which I have already 

referred to under the heading of Consumer Education above.

33.    A sub-committee of the Board which included my predecessor 

considered the issue of staff retention with the facilitation of 

an outside expert.  In broad terms what the Board currently 

envisages is the following. 

 33.1  That remuneration be benchmarked against that 

prevailing in, inter alia, the short-term insurance industry.

 33.2  To have clear targets and objectives at the beginning of 

each year in terms of Key Performance Areas and to 

align the professional staff members’ Key Performance 

Areas with their performance.

 33.3  To implement an incentive plan over a three year 

period, after engaging senior staff and obtaining their 

input, ensuring that the incentive plan includes training, 

skills development, allowing staff to take on more 

responsibility and giving them exposure to expand their 

experience.

34.    Fortunately the staff complement remained largely stable 

throughout the year.  In fact, three 10 year awards were made 

to members of the staff which is indicative of the stability 

enjoyed during the year.  However, we did lose two Assistant 

Ombudsmen during the year. The Board has decided, in 

principle, to appoint a Deputy Ombudsman. However, no 

suitable candidate has yet been identified.

35.    The volume of complaints handled by the office requires 

dedicated and efficient staff across the board.  This does not 

only include the professional staff consisting of the Assistant 

Ombudsmen, but also the administrative staff who provide 

essential backup.  The time involved in the resolution of one 

dispute is often not understood and recognised.  Under 

the circumstances the staff again performed admirably.  

Without their dedication and co-operation the satisfactory 

performance of the office could not have been achieved.  I 

am sure that all stakeholders join me in thanking our staff for 

all that they have done and for creating the settled working 

environment which prevails at the office.

Isabel Jones Ukusizana Award

36.    The winner for the year 2010, announced at the launch of 

the 2011 Annual Report was Auto and General Insurance 

Company Limited.  This is seen as a prestigious award and 

our hope is that it will continue to be an incentive for 

insurers to maintain a satisfactory level of co-operation 

with this office. The award is made on the basis of four 

criteria namely response time, level of co-operation with 

the office, the quality of the information furnished and the 

application of principles of equity and fairness. Each matter 

is evaluated individually and the overall performance of each 

insurer is recorded by our sophisticated software which is 

also employed to introduce other meaningful statistics for 

the office. However, in future, the number of criteria may 

be expanded from four to six. This is referred to more fully 

below.  It is also probable that some time in the future, three 

awards instead of one will be made for large, medium and 

smaller insurance companies.

37.    A circular was sent to all member companies in November 

2011 inviting their comment on the proposed criteria in 

making the award. Very few responses were received and 

we can therefore only conclude that the approach set out 

in the circular is acceptable to the overwhelming majority of 

member companies. In summary, the proposal was to take 

into account the following six criteria for the purposes of the 

award to be made in 2013 for the 2012 year, namely;

 37.1 Speed of response.  

 37.2 Thoroughness in handling complaints. 

 37.3  Degree of co-operation with the office in the resolution 

of complaints and disputes. 

 37.4 Application of equity and fairness. 

 37.5  The number of complaints received by the Ombudsman 

for each insured in relation to their market share as 

determined by the FSB; and 

 37.6  The overturn ratio for complaints received by the 

Ombudsman against that insurer. 

The 2011 Annual INFO Conference 

38.    My predecessor attended the Annual INFO Conference 

which was held in Vancouver Canada during September 

2011.  What follows under this heading is based on a written 

report produced by him.  

39.    The opening theme for the conference was the social media 

revolution and its relevance to Ombudsman Schemes.  The 

social media has been identified as the fastest growing 

communication tool in history and the key note speaker’s 

message was that customers (not companies) owned brands 

and that consumers can shape corporations and their 

values.  Worldwide technology companies have the highest 

confidence ratings of consumers and financial institutions  

the lowest.  

Report by the Ombudsman
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40.    Social media can assist Ombudsman Schemes in creating 

greater awareness of their activities and Ombudsmen 

should consider social media to promote a greater degree 

of transparency and engagement in the dispute resolution 

process. Numerous other presentations were made in 

communicating in a multi-stakeholder online environment.  

A theme of the conference was that Ombudsmen should 

walk the fine line between advocating for effective dispute 

resolution and good public policy outcomes while not 

compromising their neutrality and impartiality. What 

appeared to emerge was the wide consensus between 

Ombudsmen who apply equity, fairness and adherence to 

fair process in the adjudication of disputes.  As stated by my 

predecessor in his report, fairness dictates that parties to a 

dispute should have access to the same resources and an 

imbalance between the parties will result in an unbalanced 

outcome.  The decision making process is as important as 

the decision itself.  

41.    Further issues discussed at the conference involved multi-

stakeholder management, serving vulnerable populations 

and the regulatory environment around the world. The 

conference was well attended with a large delegation from 

South Africa.

Third Party Complaints

42.    The Board considered a proposal from my predecessor 

in order to expand the office’s jurisdiction to include third 

party complaints.  This would arise when a third party has a 

claim against a person insured with a member company and 

the insurer, acting on behalf of its policyholder, fails to settle 

the third party’s claim to the satisfaction of that third party.  

The Board felt that capacity constraints within the office 

precluded the expansion of the jurisdiction on this basis.  

Furthermore, it would be contrary to the Terms of Reference 

which prescribe that the office deals only with complaints 

between an insured and a member company.  It should be 

borne in mind that a third party has no direct claim against a 

member company as the third party is not an insured.

New Member

43.    During the year we welcomed Discovery Insure Limited as 

a new member.  As at year-end 51 short-term insurers were 

members of the Ombudsman Scheme.  The list of members 

is to be found elsewhere in this report.

Comment on Industry Matters

44.    I will refrain from commenting on broader industry matters.  

My preference is to focus on issues directly involving the 

office of the Ombudsman. I believe that comments on 

broader industry issues are more appropriately dealt with by 

industry organisations. We should all be reminded that this 

office is neither a spokesman for the consumer movement 

nor for the insurance industry.

Appreciation

45.    The continued success of the office is due to the level 

of commitment and dedication shown by the Board of 

Directors, the staff of the Ombudsman’s office, consumer 

organisations and the insurance industry in general.  Against 

the background of ongoing regulatory reform, this level of 

commitment is indispensable if the office is to meet the 

expectations of all its stakeholders. I would like to express 

my sincere appreciation to all concerned and have no doubt 

that their commitment will be maintained as we face the 

challenges of the future.

Dennis Jooste
Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance
11 April 2012

The Great White Pelican has probably increased in numbers during recent 
years, possibly because it has diversified its diet (it now also feeds on offal). 
Its future is dependent on the protection of the breeding sites and the 
promotion of the wise use of pesticides.

Great White Pelican

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED

© PETER HAYMAN
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Africa’s largest eagle, the Martial Eagle, has recently shown 
some worrying contractions in its range in South Africa. Large 
conservation areas and eagle-friendly farmers are crucial for 
the future of this eagle.

Martial Eagle

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED

NORMAN ARLOTT ©
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Case Studies

Personal Accident

The office of the Ombudsman was approached by the 

complainant in respect of a rejection by the insurer of a claim 

under his personal accident policy.  In brief, the complainant 

underwent a surgical procedure for the removal of a cataract and 

the implant of a new lens in his left eye.  The eye became infected 

and as a result the complainant lost sight in one eye.

He approached the insurer for compensation in terms of his policy 

and the insurer then informed the complainant that, in terms of 

the definition of an insured event, the bodily injury needed to be 

caused by violent, accidental, external and visible means.

The insurer stated that the procedure that was done was not 

accidental.  The reasons were that the washing of the eye is an 

integral part of the procedure and same cannot be considered 

accidental.  In short, the injury was caused by the surgical 

procedure which, albeit being violent, external and visible in 

nature, could hardly be said to be accidental.

The insurer further argued that a personal accident policy is 

designed for disability as may be caused by, among others, violent 

and accidental means, both of which must be present for the 

benefits to accrue to the policyholder.  The policy is not meant to 

cover all disability, irrespective of the cause thereof.  In all instances 

where violent or accidental means are missing, the loss will fall 

outside of the policy.

Our office reminded the insurer that were they allege that a claim 

falls within the ambit of an exclusion or an exception to the cover 

provided by the policy, the onus is on them to establish this as a 

fact and on the balance of probability.

In the present instance, their letter of rejection clearly stated 

that the alleged infection and loss of sight were the result of a 

deliberate surgical procedure and, as such, not accidental as 

required by the policy.

The Ombudsman’s office informed the insurer that we did not 

believe that they had established that it was the cataract removal 

operation, which the insured underwent, which caused the 

infection to the insured’s eye and the later resultant loss of vision.  

We based this submission on the fact that the ophthalmologist 

stated in his report that it was an uneventful right cataract 

extraction and intraocular lens implant and that everything went 

well during the operation.  They further stated that, in relation 

to the infection which the insured developed, they were not 

sure what the cause of this was and that the doctor could not 

determine any bacterial growth.

The doctor, however, later concluded that the infection was 

compatible with a toxic anterior-segment syndrome due to 

chemicals used during the operation.  We informed the insurer 

that this was, however, merely a theory and had not been 

established as the cause of the infection which the insured had 

developed and so the origin of the infection remained unknown.

The insurer maintained that the insured bore the onus of bringing 

the claim within the ambit of the insuring clause and had to do 

this on a balance of probabilities.  Their contention was that this 

had not been done.

In order to arrive at a conclusion that the loss of vision was 

accidental, within the insuring clause, one would first have 

a probable cause of the loss of vision without which it would 

be a stretch to simply arrive at a conclusion that it was caused 

externally.  The insurer further submitted that the view that the 

loss of sight was attributed to chemicals later introduced into 

the eye which caused the infection, was an assumption.  They 

were of the view that an assumption cannot be translated into a 

probability and as a result they did not believe that the loss had 

been brought within the ambit of the insuring clause and that the 

onus still rested with the insured.

Our office then advised that the insured is not to prove a negative.  

By definition, the loss of sight in a person’s eye would, in the 

absence of a deliberate infliction of injury, be considered to be 

accidental in nature.  Furthermore, it is not the means that must 

be accidental but rather the result.

The event insured against in a personal accident contract is an 

accident and this, in turn, requires that there must be an appropriate 

causal relationship between the accident and the injury.  However, 

as has been pointed out in a variety of cases, since the word 

‘accident’ is primarily intended to exclude the operation of natural 

causes, the precise ambit of the word is unclear and it is accepted 

that the term simply means an unlooked-for mishap or untoward 

event which is not expected or designed.

An accident is consequently an occurrence or event of a fortuitous 

nature and the very essence of an accident is that its occurrence is 

not intended by its victim.  The conduct of a third party, intentional 

or otherwise, or the occurrence of any other fortuitous event can 

be seen as an accident if the occurrence of the event was not 

foreseen by the victim.

In the present matter, it is quite clear that the insured, as the victim, 

did not intend the consequence of loss of vision to result from the 

surgery which he underwent.  If the cause of the loss of vision is, 

as seemed to be suggested, based upon the information furnished 
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by the surgeon, to be ‘toxic anterior-segment syndrome due to 

chemicals used during the operation’, the result of the use of the 

chemical would clearly fall within the ambit of an accident.

In our view the peril insured against, in terms of the policy, was 

‘the total and irrecoverable loss of all sight in one or both eyes’.  

This condition prima facie had been fulfilled.  The insurer had a 

liability to indemnify the insured as provided for by the policy.  If 

the insurer sought to avoid this liability by reason of any other 

provision in the policy, they bore the onus of establishing that they 

were absolved from indemnifying the insured by reasons of the 

provisions relied upon.  Having regard to the aforegoing our office 

was of the view that the insurer was liable to compensate the 

insured in terms of the policy provisions.

The insurer then agreed to the submissions made by our office 

and settled the claim in terms of the policy for the full benefit.

Vehicle Security Requirements

A complaint was received against the insurer in respect of a 

stolen vehicle claim which was rejected due to the complainant’s 

failure to comply with the insurer’s security requirements, being a 

tracking device.

In his Application for Assistance, the complainant stated that on 5 

May 2010 his wife was hijacked whilst driving the insured vehicle.  

The perpetrators held his wife hostage whilst attempting to 

locate the tracking device and once the tracking device had been 

located and disposed of, the complainant’s wife was released.  

The complainant advised that at the inception of the policy the 

vehicle did have a tracking device, however, the tracking device 

was deactivated as the policy only required tracking devices on 

vehicles valued at R250 000.00 or more.  As the value of the 

insured vehicle was R202 000.00, the complainant did not consider 

the tracking device to be a requirement for cover and therefore 

deactivated the tracking device in order to save the subscription 

costs.  Further, the complainant stated that even if the tracking 

device had been activated, this would not have assisted the insurer 

in recovering the vehicle as the tracking device had been disposed 

of by the hijackers shortly after the hijacking.

In accordance with the procedure followed by this office, the insurer 

was asked to furnish us with their comprehensive response to 

the complaint.  Despite numerous reminders, both telephonically 

and in writing, the insurer failed to respond.  Eventually, we were 

compelled to make a Provisional Ruling against the insurer.  The 

matter was then discussed at a meeting held with the insurer 

and the insurer still failed to furnish us with their comprehensive 

response.  The Provisional Ruling was therefore made a Final 

Ruling and the insurer was ordered to pay the claim with interest 

at the rate of 15.5% per annum from the date that the complaint 

was sent to the insurer.  The claim was accordingly settled by the 

insurer.

Material misrepresentation/non-disclosure at the time of 
conclusion of the policy agreement: conviction for driving 
under the influence of alcohol

Background

The complainant submitted two claims to the insurer claiming 

damage that was caused to his vehicle.  The damage in respect 

of the first claim was caused whilst the vehicle was parked in 

a parking lot.  The complainant advised that he had attended a 

movie on this day at the shopping centre.  Upon his return his 

brother noticed glass fragments lying in front of the vehicle on 

the left hand side.  They discovered that the left front head light 

and indicator glass had been smashed.  The complainant did not 

consider the damage to be of a serious nature and drove the 

vehicle home. 

  

The damage caused to the vehicle in the second claim was due 

to an attempted hijacking of the vehicle subsequent to which 

the complainant had lost control of the vehicle, veered off the 

road over a pavement and into nearby bushes.  In this attempted 

hijacking the complainant was struck in his face by an object which 

was hurled at him through the driver’s window by the culprits 

attempting to steal the vehicle.  It was in this sequence of events 

that the complainant had lost control of the vehicle.  After the 

complainant regained consciousness he noticed an object next to 

him which he believed to be the object that had struck him.  

Insurer’s View

Having processed both the aforementioned claims, the insurer 

declined liability on the basis that especially in the second incident, 

it had come to light that the complainant had failed to advise the 

insurer of previously being convicted of driving a vehicle whilst 

being under the influence of liquor.  The insurer also referred 

to the general conditions contained in the policy relating to 

material misrepresentation.  It furthermore appeared from the 

documentation submitted by the insurer that circumstantial 

evidence indicated that the complainant appeared to be under 

the influence of liquor during the second incident.  Essentially 

the insurer averred that the complainant’s version of the events 

did not correspond with the information obtained from the 

independent witnesses consulted subsequent to the loss.   

Case Studies
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Finding Of The Ombudsman

In matters where the insurer seeks to rely upon an exclusion as 

contained in the policy wording as a basis to reject a claim the 

onus falls on the insurer to prove that the loss falls within the 

ambit of the exclusion.  Furthermore, where the insurer relies 

upon an alleged non-disclosure or misrepresentation the insurer 

must prove that the information in question was not disclosed 

to the insurer at inception of the policy.  Such information has 

to be material as required in terms of Section 53(1)(b) of the 

Short-term Insurance Act.   This section requires that before 

any alleged non-disclosure or misrepresentation on the part of 

the policyholder can be relied upon by the insurer, it must be 

determined that such information was material to the assessment 

of the risk.  In addition, the remedy of an insurer seeking to rely on 

the aforementioned is to void the policy from inception and not 

decline liability for a claim.  

In the current matter the insurer made unsupported allegations 

that the complainant failed to disclose or represent the true state 

of facts at inception of the risk.  The insurer failed to prove this 

as an objective fact and did not seek voidance of the policy from 

inception.  Therefore the insurer’s conduct was not consistent 

with an election to void the policy from inception based on 

material non-disclosure or misrepresentation.  The insurer could 

not produce any evidence that the complainant materially 

misrepresented that he was previously convicted.  

In addition, the insurer persisted that the complainant was under 

the influence at the time of the second accident.  The insurer’s 

case in this instance was, however, solely based on circumstantial 

evidence and inference.  Conversely put, there was no direct 

evidence indicating that the insured was under the influence of 

alcohol at the time of the accident.   Cases based on circumstantial 

evidence are to be approached with caution and circumspection.  

Care must be taken to distinguish between conjecture and 

speculation, on the one hand, and legitimate inference on 

the other.  

 When relying on inference, the balancing of probabilities comes 

into play.  In the current matter the question was thus whether the 

insurer had objectively established on reliable evidence that the 

complainant was under the influence of alcohol.  In the opinion 

of the Ombudsman the insurer had failed to discharge such onus.  

The insurer could not establish any objective, reliable and factual 

evidence as set out by the witnesses from which could be inferred 

that the complainant was under the influence of alcohol at the 

time of loss.  

In light of the above the insurer retracted the reason/s for the 

rejection of the claim and settled the claim in full.

Case Studies

© PETER HAYMAN

The Yellow-billed Stork benefits from the protection of the wetland habitat 
it relies on for feeding.

Yellow-billed Stork

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED
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Due Care And Precaution

The Merits

The complainant was the owner of a luxury high performance 

motor vehicle which he had comprehensively insured. On a fateful 

evening during a rainstorm the complainant, there and then, 

driving the insured vehicle on a motorway, collided with a bridge 

resulting in the total loss of the vehicle.

A claim was intimated by the complainant with the insurer and 

the insurer duly appointed an investigator to investigate the 

facts related to the loss incurred.  At some stage during the 

investigation the investigator encouraged the complainant to state 

that his approximate speed at the time directly preceding the loss 

was 160km/h. The statement was provided by the complainant on 

the promise of the investigator that the claim settlement would 

be expedited should the complainant provide such a statement. 

The claim was however promptly rejected by the insurer on the 

basis that the complainant failed to display necessary caution and 

take all reasonable steps to prevent the loss from occurring. This 

is generally referred to as a “due care” clause in a contract of 

insurance.

Following the rejection of the claim, the complainant informed 

the insurer that he had at all relevant times indicated to the 

investigator that he was not aware of the exact speed that he 

was travelling, but that he estimated it at 110km/h. He further 

indicated that the investigator referred to the extent of damages 

to the insured vehicle and concluded that the vehicle could not 

have been travelling at anything less than 150km/h.

Notwithstanding the above, the insurer persisted in their rejection 

of the claim and the matter was referred to the office of The 

Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance (“the OSTI”) by the 

complainant.

The OSTI’S View

The OSTI found that the investigator appointed by the insurer 

had no objective manner in which to determine what the 

approximate speed of the complainant’s vehicle was at the time 

directly preceding the accident. Furthermore, the complainant’s 

actions, if it was indeed true that he had travelled at 160km/h, 

constituted negligence on the part of the complainant and 

negligence is covered in terms of the policy. The duty on the 

complainant to exercise due care and precaution was not to be 

equated with the absence of negligence as this would defeat a 

substantial part of the indemnification given to the insured by a 

comprehensive motor vehicle policy, which is in the nature of an 

“all risk” policy. It simply required that the complainant did not act 

reckless.  This entails that the complainant not deliberately court 

danger, the existence of which he should be aware of, safe in the 

knowledge that he was insured against such risk and that he is not 

consequently indifferent to the outcome. These requirements are 

as expounded in the matter of Santam Ltd vs. CC Designing CC 

1999 (4) SA199 (CPD). The OSTI was of the view that the insurer 

had not proved recklessness and as negligence was covered in 

terms of the policy the claim should be settled.

The Outcome

The insurer refused to accept the view of the OSTI and a formal 

ruling was made by the Ombudsman directing the insurer to 

indemnify the complainant, which was later complied with by the 

insurer.

Polygraph Lie Detector Test

A complaint was received against the insurer in respect of a claim 

rejected by the insurer due to fraud on the part of the insured.

The insured’s complaint appeared to involve a claim alleged 

to have been inflated or tainted with fraud. The fundamental 

principle which was applied by this office was that the insurer 

must shoulder its responsibility to indemnify the insured for the 

loss of/or damage suffered as a result of a peril covered by the 

policy.

The report of the insurer’s assessor was reviewed and it was 

evident from this report that the insured had suffered a burglary 

at his residence although the insurer’s assessor felt some unease 

regarding the loss and more specifically the items claimed for.  The 

assessor thereafter, apparently on his own initiative and without 

regard to the provisions of the Policyholder Protection Rules, 

caused a layered voice analysis (LVA) test to be carried out on the 

insured with specific emphasis on certain items. 

The test indicated deception relating to almost every item with 

which the assessor had a concern.  A meeting was later held with 

the insured and the assessor at which time it was alleged that the 

insured’s wife had admitted to discovering, shortly after the loss, 

that the IBM laptop and Canon SLR digital camera with a bag and 

memory stick were in fact never stolen. When asked why she had 

not corrected the claim when she had an opportunity to do so, 

the explanation given by the insured was that “she was greedy and 

since the items had already been added to the claim, was hoping 

that she would be paid out extra”.

Case Studies
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In terms of Rule 5.1 of the Policyholder Protection Rules 

promulgated in terms of Section 55 of the Short-term Insurance 

Act, 1998, any provision in a policy of insurance which provides, 

expressly or by implication, for the following is void:

 a)  that in connection with any claim made under the policy, 

the policyholder may be obliged to undergo a polygraph, 

lie detector or truth verification, or any other similar test 

or procedure which is furnished or made available by the 

insurer or any other person in terms of an arrangement 

with the insurer and which is conducted under the control 

of the insurer or such other person;

 b)  for an inducement of any nature for a policyholder to 

voluntarily agree to undergo a test or procedure envisaged 

in paragraph (a) of this rule where the policyholder submits 

a claim under the policy;

 c)  that where the policyholder voluntarily agrees to undergo 

a test or procedure envisaged in paragraph (a) of this rule 

where the policyholder submits a claim under the policy 

and the policyholder fails to pass such test, the claim will be 

rejected or the policy will be void merely as a result of such 

failure to pass the test or the procedure.

The assessor drew an inference arising out of the layered voice 

analysis (LVA) test carried out on the insured which was totally 

void, inadmissible and of no standing as per the above provisions 

of the Policyholder Protection Rules. 

A settlement proposal was therefore made by this office as follows: 

the items that were in fact not stolen amounted to 15.82% of the 

entire claim as per assessor’s report. The total amount of claim 

was assessed in the sum of R126 274.65. After removing the items 

that should not have been included, the claim was reduced to the 

sum of R106 242.62.  As a mark of disapproval for the conduct of 

the insured, it was further proposed that a penalty be imposed on 

the insured of a further 15%, which amounted to R15 936.40, and 

brought the whole claim down to R90 306.26. It was the view of 

this office that the proposed outcome would be fair and equitable 

and in line with the provisions of the Conventional Penalties Act.   

The insurer was asked whether they would be prepared to make 

an offer of settlement to the insured as per the above settlement 

proposal or whether this matter would require resolution by 

means of a Formal Ruling made by this office. 

The insurer argued that in this matter there was a clear fraud 

which had led to a forfeiture of the claim. The insurer was not 

prepared to settle the claim as per the settlement proposal made 

by this office. The insurer invited the office to make a Formal 

Ruling on the matter. 

A Final Ruling was made and the insurer was directed to indemnify 

the insured and ordered to pay the claim with interest at the rate 

of 15.5% per annum from the date that the complaint was sent to 

the insurer.  The claim has not yet been settled by the insurer and 

a meeting was held with the insurer wherein they were advised 

that this office would not review the Final Ruling that had already 

been made as the office was functus officio. We await confirmation 

from the insurer that the complainant’s claim will be settled as per 

the Final Ruling.

Case Studies

The Blue Swallow could be South Africa’s most threatened 
bird. Unless urgent measures are implemented to address the 
declines, we could witness its extinction in our country in the 
next few years. BirdLife South Africa’s Important Bird Areas 
Programme is focusing on protecting the swallow’s habitat in 
the grasslands.

Blue Swallow

STATUS: CRITICALLY ENDANGERED
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Determining Market Value

The insured purchased a BMW which was comprehensively 

insured. In April 2008 the insured vehicle was involved in a 

collision and later declared a write-off. A claim was submitted to 

the comprehensive insurer as well as the credit shortfall insurer.

The comprehensive insurer assessed the market value of the 

insured vehicle to be R620 000 and the insured was made an 

offer on this figure less the applicable excesses. The insured had 

purchased the vehicle for R950 000.

The insured’s credit shortfall insurer rejected the value placed 

on the vehicle by the comprehensive insurer for the purposes of 

assessing the insured’s shortfall claim.

The insured approached the OSTI who then took up the matter 

with the comprehensive insurer. It appeared that the method of 

indemnification provided by this insurer was the market value on 

the date of loss.

The insured vehicle, which was a 2006 model, had a retail value of 

R792 200 as at the date of loss which figure was consistent with 

the new list price in 2008 of R864 000 according to the Auto 

Dealer’s Guide, being the industry standard for determining the 

values of vehicles.

The comprehensive insurer however did not follow the Auto 

Dealer’s guide and instead considered similar vehicles being 

offered on the market and determined that the insured vehicle 

could be replaced at a cost of R620 000.

The comprehensive insurer submitted to the Ombudsman 

a circular dated the 10th of June 2010 which was sent to all 

their brokers advising them of the proposed new method of 

determining the market value of vehicles at date of loss with the 

intention of reducing reliance on the Auto Dealer’s Guide.

The Ombudsman advised the comprehensive insurer that 

their method of determination of the market value was out of 

keeping with industry norms and standards, was potentially highly 

prejudicial to insured persons and would only lead to differing 

practices being followed in the industry which would result in 

uncertainty, confusion and unnecessary disputes being created.

The Ombudsman advised further that it was imperative that 

there be uniformity in approach within the industry on the 

methodology to be employed in determining the indemnification 

to be provided to the insured in the event of a total loss. He 

advised that the methodology was especially important as it 

would affect the calculation of the credit shortfall.

The Ombudsman conceded that an insurer was, as a general rule, 

entitled to elect whether to repair, replace or settle on a cash 

in lieu basis, however, once an insurer had elected to indemnify 

through a particular method they were stuck with that method 

and may not later change that election to the detriment of the 

insured.

The Ombudsman advised that once an insurer had elected to 

indemnify on a cash in lieu basis it could not rely upon the cost 

of replacement as representing the measure of indemnification.

The comprehensive insurer disagreed with the Ombudsman and 

advised that they would not change their view which necessitated 

the Ombudsman issuing a formal ruling against them.

The insurer was ordered to recalculate the settlement to the 

insured following the industry standard, which was the Auto 

Dealer’s Guide, and, further, that interest was to be paid to the 

insured at the rate of 15.5% per annum as from the 

9th of April 2009.

After further deliberation the insurer agreed to abide by the 

findings of the Ombudsman.  

Case Studies

The African Black Oystercatcher has had a recent change of 
fortune, and numbers are increasing and its range is expanding. 
The ban of 4x4s on beaches and the spread of an alien mussel 
have benefited this southern African endemic.

African Black Oystercatcher

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED© PETER HAYMAN
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The Lesser Flamingo only breeds at four lakes/pans in Africa; 
and it has only bred at one wetland, Kamfers Dam, Kimberly, 
South Africa. Although numbering in the millions, the breeding 
sites are threatened and the future of this attractive bird is 
uncertain.

Lesser Flamingo

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED

© PETER HAYMAN
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Statistics 2011
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TOTAL FILES CLOSED
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© PETER HAYMAN

The Secretarybird, which features on our country’s coat of arms, has shown 
a recent decrease in range and a probably decline in numbers. The threats 
are not well understood, so this species is being studied by BirdLife 
South Africa.

Secretarybird

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED
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Melodious Lark

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED

NORMAN ARLOTT ©
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Statement of responsibility

In accordance with the Companies Act requirements, the directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair 

presentation of the financial statements of the Ombudsman for the Short-Term Insurance (the Company).  The financial 

statements presented on pages 28 to 46 have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards, and include amounts based on judgments and estimates made by management.  The directors also prepared 

the other information included in the report of the directors and are responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency 

with the financial statements.

The directors are ultimately responsible for the internal controls. Management enables the directors to meet these 

responsibilities.  The standards and systems of internal control are designed and implemented by management to provide 

reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and to adequately safeguard, verify and 

maintain the company’s assets.  Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that any breakdown in the 

functioning of these controls results in material loss to the company.

The directors have made an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to 

believe the business will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future.

The independent firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., audited the financial statements and were given unrestricted access 

to all financial records and related data.  The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors 

during their audit are valid and appropriate. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.’s audit report is presented on page 27.

Approval of the annual financial statements

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 30 March 2012 and are signed on its 

behalf by:

DIRECTORCHAIRMAN

30 MARCH 2012

The Peregrine Falcon alerted the world to the threats of pesticides on 
birds and our natural environment. In South Africa, the Peregrine is not 
common, but may be increasing in some parts of its range, such as on the 
Cape Peninsula.

Peregrine Falcon

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED
© PETER HAYMAN
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Report of the independent auditors

We have audited the annual financial statements of  The Ombudsman for the Short-Term Insurance NPC, which comprise 

the statement of financial position at 31 December 2011, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report as set out on pages 28 to 46.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements 

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of 

South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of  The Ombudsman for 

the Short-Term Insurance NPC at 31 December 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act 

of South Africa.

Supplementary financial information

The additional information supplied on page 47 has not been audited and consequently we do not express an opinion 

on this information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Director: M.N. Govender

Registered Auditor  

Johannesburg

16 April 2012
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Incorporation

The company was incorporated on 1 January 2001 as an association not-for-gain. 

Business activities

The company provides the services of a mediator between complainants and short-term insurance companies.

Post financial year-end events

No matters which are material to the financial affairs of the company have occurred between the date of the statement 

of financial position and the date of approval of the financial statements.

Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis as the directors have reason to believe 

that the company will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

Directors

The directors of the company during the year were: 

PG Walters (Chairman) 

W Knowler (Vice-Chairman)   

J Dixon   

SE Moolman

B Scott   

G Dhombo   

L Bennie   

T Bolani   

G Genis - appointed 28 June 2011

SH Schoeman - resigned 28 June 2011

Secretary

MK Matabane  

Business address:  

Sunnyside Office Park

5th Floor, Building D 

32 Princess of Wales Terrace  

Parktown  

2093

Postal address:

PO Box 32334

Braamfontein

2017

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2011

   Restated 

 Notes 2011 2010 

     

  R R 

Revenue 20 22 789 128 22 117 922

Other income                                         44 494       16 300 

    

 

Total income  22 833 622  22 134 222

Expenditure 21 (22 836 620) (19 986 985) 

     

  

Operating (deficit)/surplus for the year before tax   (2 998)  2 147 237

Finance income                     13 619 896    711 328 

Finance cost 14 (14 153) (3 505) 

Operating surplus before taxation  602 745 2 855 060 

Taxation 11 - - 

     

 

Net surplus for the year  602 745 2 855 060

NORMAN ARLOTT ©

The Red-billed Oxpecker has recently increased in range and 
numbers, and this is thanks to farmers either stopping the use 
of harmful cattle dips or changing to bird-friendly dips.

Red-billed Oxpecker

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED
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 Notes  Restated  Restated

Assets  2011 2010 2009

Non-current assets  1 162 832 1 301 682 962 186  

Property, plant and equipment 2 1 046 370 1 110 239 655 537 

Intangible assets 3 116 462 191 443 306 649

     

Current assets  12 186 910 8 399 634 7 150 102 

Trade and other receivables  4       2 814 325  267 551 186 530

Cash and cash equivalents 5 9 372 585 8 132 083 6 963 572 

       

Total assets  13 349 742  9 701 316  8 112 288 

     

Equity and liabilities     

 

Equity     

Retained surplus/(deficit)      1 178 103  575 357  (2 279 703) 

Total equity  1 178 103  575 357  (2 279 703) 

     

Liabilities      

 

Non-current liabilities  463 991 552 972 424 518

Post-retirement medical aid benefits 6 398 649 428 494 424 518 

Finance lease liability 15 65 342 124 478 -

     

Current liabilities  11 707 648 8 572 982  9 967 473 

Provisions  7       445 880  98 000  119 696 

Trade and other payables 8      2 268 365 546 755  908 523 

Deferred income 9 8 993 403  7 928 232  8 939 254 

Total liabilities      12 171 639  9 125 959 10 391 991 

      

Total equity and liabilities    13 349 742  9 701 316  8 112 288 

Statement of financial position
For the year ended 31 December 2011

The Woodward’s Batis is vulnerable to habitat destruction 
and degradation, especially through sugar farming.

Woodward’s Batis

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED

NORMAN ARLOTT ©
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2011

 Notes  Restated

  R

Retained surplus    

Balance at 1 January 2009  4 585 998   

Restated net loss for the 2009 year  19 (6 865 701) 

Balance at 1 January 2010  (2 279 703) 

Restated net surplus for the 2010 year 19 2 855 060 

Balance at 31 December 2010  575 357 

    

Net surplus for the year  602 745 

Balance at 31 December 2011  1 178 103 

   Restated

 Notes 2011 2010 

  R R 

Cash generated by operations 10 1 022 535 1 245 669

Finance income      13 619 896 711 328 

Finance cost 14 (14 153) (3 505) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  1 628 278 1 953 492

 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 2 (354 596) (774 212) 

Acquisition of intangible assets 3 (33 180) (10 770) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (387 776) (784 982) 

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1 240 502 1 168 511 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  8 132 083 6 963 572  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  9 372 585 8 132 083 

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the annual financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1. Accounting policies and definitions

1.1 Presentation of the annual financial statements 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 

its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act in South Africa. 

 

1.2 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements are presented in South African Rand. They are prepared on the historical cost basis except for 

financial instruments which are stated at fair value or amortised cost. 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The effect of a change in accounting estimate 

is recognised prospectively in the period in which the accounting estimate is revised, if the change affects that period only; 

or the period of the change and future periods if the change affects both.  

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial statements. 

1.3 Revenue  

Revenue represents fees charged for complaints received against insurers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for services provided, stated net of discounts, 

credit notes and value added taxes.  The company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably 

measured and when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity.

Revenue is recognised based on the estimated stage of completion by reference to the average turn-around days it takes 

the company to close a case/complaint.

Penalty income of double the current fee is charged to insurers for delays in resolving matters.

1.4 Interest income 

Interest is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a time proportionate basis, taking account of the 

principal outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will 

accrue to the company. 

 

1.5 Leases

Leases of property and equipment where the company assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are 

classified as finance leases.  Fixed assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present 

value of the underlying lease payments and are depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items 

of property, plant and equipment. Corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term 

payables. Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective interest rate method which 

takes into account the effective interest charge on the lease. 
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating 

leases. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight line basis over the 

period of the lease. 

1.6 Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

On initial recognition, financial instruments are recognised on trade date at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below. 

 

A financial liability is derecognised when it is legally extinguished. 

Trade  and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables originated by the company are stated at cost. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments 

and amortisations. 

A financial asset is derecognised when the company loses control over the contractual rights that comprise an asset and 

consequently transfers substantively all the risk and benefits associated with the asset on trade date. This occurs when the 

rights are realised, expire or are surrendered. 

1.7 Impairment 

The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at the statement of financial position date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable 

amount is estimated and any impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the difference 

between the recoverable amount and carrying amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use

 

1.8 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line 

basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

Furniture and fittings 5 years

Computer equipment 4 years 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 

within ‘Other (losses)/income – net’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Accounting policies and definitions continued
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1.9 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

 

Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 

of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

Software  4 years 

1.10 Post-retirement medical aid benefits 

The expected cost of post-retirement medical aid benefits are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in 

order to spread the cost over the service lives of employees entitled to those benefits. Costs are assessed in accordance 

with the advice of qualified actuaries. 

 

The company’s net obligation is the amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 

in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method. An actuarial valuation 

is performed at intervals of no more than three years.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial valuations are charged or credited to the statement of 

comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

1.11 Defined contributions plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the statement of 

comprehensive income as incurred.

 

1.12 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when:

- The company has a present obligation as a result of a past event.

- It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and 

- A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

Historical data are used to estimate the provision for credit notes to be approved in the subsequent year which relates to 

the previous financial year. 

1.13 Deferred income

Income received that relates to future financial periods is recognised as deferred income.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Accounting policies and definitions continued
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 2011 2010 2009 

 R R R 
2. Property, plant and equipment     

Cost     

– furniture and fittings 736 689 751 799 720 011

– computer equipment 2 263 344 2 047 013 1 304 587

 3 000 034 2 798 812 2 024 598

   

Accumulated depreciation     

– furniture and fittings (579 069) (553 638) (469 959)

– computer equipment (1 374 596) (1 134 934) (899 102)

 (1 953 664) (1 688 572) (1 369 061)

    

Net book value     

– furniture and equipment 157 621 198 160 250 052

– computer equipment 888 749 912 079 405 485

 1 046 370 1 110 239 655 537

 Furniture and Computer Total

 fittings  equipment  

 R R R

Net book value    

 

Balance at 31 December 2008 246 694 308 352 555 046

Additions 89 108 247 779 336 887

Depreciation (85 750) (150 646)     (236 396)

Balance at 31 December 2009 250 052 405 485 655 537

Additions 31 787 742 425 774 212

Depreciation (83 679) (235 831) (319 510)

Balance at 31 December 2010 198 160 912 079 1 110 239

Additions 46 633 307 963 354 596

Depreciation (87 172) (331 293) (418 465)

     

Disposals -  - -

Original cost 61 742 91 631 153 373

Less Accumulated depreciation (61 742) ( 91 631)   (153 373)

Balance at 31 December 2011 157 621 888 749 1 046 370

     

 Included in computer equipment is a telephone system that was acquired through a finance lease. Refer to note 15 and 16.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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 2011 2010 2009 

 R R R 
3. Intangible assets    

 

Cost 817 728 859 194 848 424 

Accumulated amortisation (701 266) (667 751) (541 775) 

Net book value 116 462 191 443 306 649 

     

    

 

Balance at 1 January 2011 191 443 306 649 307 554 

Additions 33 180 10 770 106 500 

Amortisation (108 162) (125 976) (107 405) 

    

Disposals - - - 

Original cost 74 646 - - 

Less Accumulated depreciation (74 646) - - 

Balance at 31 December 2011 116 462 191 443 306 649 

 

Intangible assets detailed above represent computer software purchased from 3rd Party service providers.

     

  Restated Restated

 2011 2010 2009 

 R R R 

    

4. Trade and other receivables     

Accounts receivable 21 893 710 20 131 

Accrued income 2 683 750 - - 

Other receivables 108 682 266 841 166 399 

 2 814 325 267 551 186 530 

    
5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances.

Bank and cash balances earned interest at rates varying from 5.97% to 5.34% on the call account and 2% on 

the current account during the year.

Bank and cash balances comprise of short-term deposits.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011

The Yellow-breasted Pipit, which only occurs in South Africa’s 
and Lesotho, is fast losing its grassland habitat. Through the 
Important Bird Areas Programme, BirdLife South Africa hopes 
to protect key sites, especially by encouraging farmers to adopt 
the Biodiversity Stewardship Programme on their properties.

Yellow-breasted Pipit

STATUS:  VULNERABLE

NORMAN ARLOTT ©
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 2011 2010 2009

 R R R   

6. Post-retirement medical aid benefits

Movement in the obligation recognised in the statement 

of financial position     

 

Opening defined benefit obligation 428 494 424 518 519 755

Interest cost 35 700 32 152 48 972

Actuarial gains (35 148) - (117 609)

Benefits paid (30 397) (28 176) (26 600)

 

Closing defined benefit obligation 398 649 428 494 424 518

Assumptions used

Discount rate and medical aid inflation:

The post-retirement medical aid benefits are actuarially valued at the discretion of management, at intervals of no 

more than three years on the projected unit credit method. The post-retirement medical aid liability was last valued as 

at December 2009.  The discount rate was set equal to the yield on a zero coupon government bond with a term of 

approximately 8 years.  Medical aid inflation was estimated based on the Consumer Price Index plus a 1% to 2% margin. 

The principal assumptions are as follows: 

     2011  

Discount rate   8.25

Medical aid inflation  7.90  

 

Mortality:   

The PA90(f) (Female Immediate Annuitants) table was used to calculate the obligation as  there is one  ex-employee on 

the post-retirement medical plan. 

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of Comprehensive Income:

  2011 2010

Interest cost  35 700 32 152

Actuarial gain  35 148                   -

The attractive Southern Bald Ibis’s range is restricted to our 
region. It no longer occurs in the Western Cape, and is now 
uncommon in the Eastern Cape. BirdLife South Africa is 
undertaking research to determine the threats to this ibis and 
how they can be addressed.

Southern Bald Ibis

STATUS:  VULNERABLE

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011

© PETER HAYMAN
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6. Post-retirement medical aid benefits continued

Sensitivity analysis    

       MEDICAL AID INFLATION

 Central assumption 7.9% -1% 1%

Accrued liability 31 December 2011 (R’) 398 649 369 972 430 650

% Change - -7.19% 8.03%

Interest Cost 2012 (R’)               31 536                29 182                34 163 

% Change - -7.46% 8.33%

   

Medical aid inflation 7.90% 6.90% 8.90%

Discount rate 8.25% 8.25% 8.25%

Deficit in the plan    

        2011   2010   2009   2008 

Present value of the medical aid obligation 398 649            428 494 424 518  519 755 

Present value of plan assets -   -  -   -   

Deficit in the plan            398 649  428 494             424 518 519 755 

    

Experience adjustments

There were no significant experience adjustments in the past four years.

7. Provisions

  2011  Restated 2010 Restated 2009

 Audit fees Credit Total Audit      Audit   

  Notes  fees/ Total fees/Total

 R R R  R R

Balance at beginning of year 98 000 -   98 000 119 696 117 000

Utilised during the year (98 000) - (98 000) (146 148) (82 304)

Raised during the year 115 830 330 050   445 880 124 452 85 000

Balance at end of year 115 830 330 050 445 880 98 000 119 696

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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  Restated Restated

 2011 2010 2009

 R R R

    

8. Trade and other payables    

Accrued salaries 1 291 363  5 928  16 308

Sundry creditors 48 490 49 022  288 955

Finance lease liability 59 304 59 766 -

Accrued expenses 462 451 114 237 288 580

Leave accrual 406 756 317 802  314 680

 2 268 365 546 755 908 523

  Restated Restated

 2011 2010 2011

 R R R

    

9. Deferred income    

Income received in advance  22 822 800 22 423 200 20 062 950

Less actual complaints received  (23 319 400) (21 087 900) (18 746 650)

    

(Under invoicing ) / cash received in advance  (496 600) 1 335 300 1 316 300

Transferred to accrued income 2 262 000 - -

Credit notes issued after year end  198 700 - -

Complaints received deferred to next financial period 7 029 303 6 592 932 7 622 954

Balance at end of year 8 993 403 7 928 232 8 939 254

   Restated

  2011 2010 

  R R 

10. Cash generated by operations

Net surplus for the year    602 745 2 855 060 

Adjustment for :    

– interest income  (619 896) (711 328) 

– depreciation of fixed assets  418 465 319 510 

– finance costs  14 153 3 505 

– amortisation of intangible assets  108 162 125 976 

Cash generated before working capital changes  523 629 2 592 723 

Working capital changes:  498 906 (1 347 054) 

– Increase in trade and other receivables  (2 546 774) (81 021) 

 – (Decrease)/increase  in post-retirement medical aid benefit obligation ( 29 845) 3 975 

-  (Decrease)/increase in finance lease  (59 597) 124 478 

– Increase/ (decrease) in accounts payable   2 069 951 (383 464) 

- Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue  1 065 171 (1 011 022) 

  

  1 022 535 1 245 669

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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11.  Taxation

 The Ombudsman for the Short-Term Insurance NPC is an association not-for-gain. In terms of Section 30 of the Income 

Tax Act, the company is exempt from taxation.

12. Risk management 

Analysis of income and expenses from financial instruments 

 2011 2010 

 R R 

    

Finance income earned on cash and cash equivalents  619 896 711 328 

 619 896 711 328 

The significant financial risks to which the company is exposed are described below. 

  

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparty to a financial instrument to discharge its contractual 

obligations. The company is exposed to credit risk to the extent of the following financial instruments: 

  

– Accounts receivable; and 

– Cash and cash equivalents. 

Credit exposure at 31 December 2011

Financial instrument AA- A+ No rating Carrying value

     in statement of

     financial position 

 % % % R 

Trade and other receivables -  100 2 814 325 

Cash and cash equivalents 39 61 - 9 372 585 

Credit exposure at 31 December 2010

Financial instrument AA-  No rating Carrying value 

    in statement of 

    financial position 

 %  % R 

Trade and other receivables -  100 267 551 

Cash and cash equivalents 100  - 8 132 083 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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12. Risk management (continued) 

  

The company has not mitigated its credit risk attaching to financial assets disclosed above. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk indicates a company’s ability to meet its financial obligations. The company has various cash management 

procedures and processes in place. The company funds are available within 32 days. 

  

No maturity profile has been provided for liabilities as all accounts payable at year end will be settled within 3 months 

except for the finance lease liability. Refer to note 13 for the maturity profile of the finance lease liability.  

  

Capital risk management

The company manages capital risk by aiming to maintain capital reserves that will enable the company to cover at least 

five months of operating expenditure. 

 

Market risk 

The company’s exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate risk. There is no exposure to currency risk as all 

transactions are Rand denominated and there is no exposure to other market risks. The company monitors the South 

African economy and the decisions taken by the South African monetary committee on treasury matters. 

  

Interest rate risk 

The company holds funds with financial institutions. There is a risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as 

a result of the changes in the market interest rates. The company monitors the credit rating of these financial institutions 

to ensure that no variation from predetermined expectations exists. 

  

A two percent change in interest rates would have changed equity and surplus to the amounts shown below. This analysis 

assumes that all other variables remain constant. This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010. 

 

Sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2011 Surplus for the year Equity 

 R R 

Reported at 31 December 2011 602 745 1 178 103 

Fluctuations taking into consideration the following variables:    

Increase in interest rate by 2 percentage points 512 450 1 087 808 

Decrease in interest rate by 2 percentage points 693 040 1 268 398

The White-bellied Korhaan is an inhabitant of our grasslands, the 
most threatened biome in South Africa. BirdLife South Africa has 
initiated research on these small bustards, and a conservation 
programme to protect key habitat in the grasslands.

White-bellied Korhaan

STATUS:  VULNERABLE
© PETER HAYMAN
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12. Risk management (continued) Surplus for the year Equity 

Sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2010  

 2011 2010 

 R R 

Reported at 31 December 2010 2 855 060 575 357 

    

Fluctuations taking into consideration the following variables:    

Increase in interest rate by 2 percentage points 3 017 702 737 999 

Decrease in interest rate by 2 percentage points 2 692 418 412 715 

Methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis 

•    the interest bearing balance was multiplied by the interest rate after taking into account the increase or decrease 

specified above; 

•    the new interest amount was then subtracted from the existing interest figure disclosed in the annual financial 

statements and applied to the surplus or loss for the year ; 

•   This resulted in the revised impact on surplus or loss amounts disclosed above and the overall sensitivity to interest  

rate fluctuations.

13. Finance income

Finance income earned on cash and cash equivalents  619 896 711 328 

 619 896 711 328 

14. Finance costs

Interest payments for the finance lease liability  14 153 3 505 

 14 153 3 505 

15. Finance lease liability

Finance lease payable in the next 12 months 59 304 59 766

Finance lease payable after 12 months 65 342 124 478

 124 647 184 244

The Bateleur and other scavenging raptors are threatened by 
the unselective use of poisons to control black-backed jackals 
and other carnivores.

Bateleur

STATUS:  VULNERABLE

© PETER HAYMAN
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16. Commitments

Operating lease commitment

Operating lease commitment consists of leases of the office building and office equipment.  The new office rental 

contract will escalate at 9% on the leave anniversary and expire on 31 May 2014. The equipment leases have a duration 

of 3 years with an option of renewal.                                                                                                                                                            

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease are as follows:

Operating lease commitment Payable Payable   

 within one year within two 

  to five years 

 R R 

Copiers, scanners and fax machine 125 952 283 392 

Building 1 059 119 2 292 437 

Total 1 185 071 2 575 829 

     

Finance lease commitment    

 

Payments 73 918 61 598

Interest 8 576 2 462

Net present value of payments 65 342 59 136

Summary of borrowing arrangements 

i) The finance lease agreement relates to a telephone system with a lease terms of 3 years at prime interest rate. The 

obligation under the agreement is secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

ii)The carrying amounts of current borrowing approximate their fair value.

The effective rates at the balance sheet date were as follows: 

Instalment sale agreements  9.5%   

17. General review of operations

The results of the operations are fully set out in the attached financial statements. 

  

18. Related Parties

The only related party transactions were directors fees paid to Board members.

 2011 2010

 R R

Remuneration  197 640 253 321

Total 197 640 253 321

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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19. Restatement of revenue

 Revenue was previously recognised when complaints were registered. Revenue is now recognised based on the average turn 

around days to close a case.  This is based on a stage of completion basis in terms of IAS 18.20.  The financial statements for 

2010 and 2009 have been restated to account for this adjustment.  The effect of the restatement on the financial statements is 

summarised below:

 Notes 2010 2009 

Statement of financial position  R R  

Decrease in equity  (6 592 932) (7 622 954) 

Increase  in deferred income  6 592 932 7 622 954 

    

Statement of comprehensive income    

Increase / (decrease) in revenue  1 030 022 (7 622  954) 

  

20. Revenue                                                                                     

   Restated 

  2011 2010 

Revenue from cases registered during the year  16 290 097 14 474 268 

Revenue carried forward from the previous year  6 592 931 7 622 954 

Credit note adjustments  (1 869 400) (1 540 400) 

Complaints  income  21 013 628 20 568 822 

Penalty fee income  1 775 500  1 549 100 

  22 789 128 22 117 922 

21. Expenditure by nature                                                                                    

  2011 2010 

Auditors remuneration  206 685 134 452 

    - External audit  119 400 134 452 

    - Internal audit  87 285 - 

Computer expenses  929 743 432 401 

Depreciation and Amortisation                              2 & 3 526 627 445 486 

Directors fees  197 640 253 322 

Employee costs  16 952 907 15 539 718 

Postages and telephones  530 374 454 707 

Property expenses  1 768 375 1 104 957 

Public relations  361 594 538 799 

Stationery  495 477 492 543 

Other expenses  867 198 590 600 

TOTAL  22 836 620  19 986 985 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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22. Disclosure of classes and categories of financial instruments 

As at 31 December 2011

   Classes 

Categories Notes Loans and Financial Non- Total

  receivables liabilities at financial  

   amortised instruments

   cost

  R R R R 

Assets       

Property, plant and equipment 2 – – 1 046 370 1 046 370 

Intangible assets 3 – – 116 462 116 462 

Trade and other receivables 4 2 814 325 – – 2 814 910 

Cash and cash equivalents 5  9 372 585 – – 9 372 585 

Total assets  12 186 910 – 1 162 832  13 349 742 

       

Equity and liabilities        

Retained surplus  – – 1 178 103 1 178 103 

Total equity  – – 1 178 103 1 178 103 

       

Post-retirement medical benefit 6 – – 398 649 398 649 

Finance lease liability 15 – 65 342 – 65 342 

Provisions 7 – – 445 880 445 880 

Trade and other payables    8 – 2 268 365 – 2 268 365 

Deferred income    9 – 8 993 403 – 8 993 403 

Total liabilities    11 327 110 844 529 12 171 639 

       

Total equity and liabilities   – 11 327 110 2 022 632 13 349 742 

Africa’s only penguin, the African Penguin, is in a precarious 
position. Its numbers have decreased by 99% during the 
past 100 years, and the population continues to decline. 
BirdLife South Africa, has implemented several research and 
conservation projects on the African Penguin.

African Penguin

STATUS:  VULNERABLE

NORMAN ARLOTT ©
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22. Disclosure of classes and categories of financial instruments continued

As at 31 December 2010

   Classes 

Categories Notes Loans and Financial Non- Total

  receivables liabilities at financial  

   amortised instruments

   cost

  R R R R  

Assets       

Property, plant and equipment 2 – – 1 110 239 1 110 239 

Intangible assets 3 – – 191 443 191 443 

Trade and other receivables 4 267 551 – – 267 551 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 8 132 083 – – 8 132 083 

Total assets  8 399 634 – 1 301682 9 701 316 

       

Equity and liabilities        

Retained surplus  – – 575 357 575 357 

Total equity  – – 575 375 575 357 

       

Post-retirement medical benefit 6 – – 428 494 428 494 

Finance lease liability 15  – 124 478 – 124 478 

Provisions 7 – – 98 000  98 000 

Trade and other payables 8 – 546 755 – 546 755 

Deferred income 9  7 928 232 – 7 928 232 

Total liabilities   – 8 599 465 526 494 9 125 959 

       

Total equity and liabilities   – 8 599 465 1 101 869 9 701 316 

23. Comparatives

Comparatives were restated to correctly reflect the classification of the accounts. The effect of the restatement is 

summarised below: 

    2010 2009

Decrease in provisions    (317 802) (314 680)

Increase in trade and other payables    317 802 314 680

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2011

The Yellow-throated Sandgrouse is the most threatened of 
South Africa’s four sandgrouse species, but the reasons for its 
small, fluctuating population and its reliance on specific farming 
practices are not well understood.

Yellow-throated Sandgrouse

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED
© PETER HAYMAN
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  Notes 2011 2010 

   R R 

Income     

 

Fees charged  22 789 128 22 117 922 

Interest income   619 896 711 328 

Other income  9 346 16 300 

Actuarial gain 6 35 148 - 

   23 453 518 22 845 550 

      

 

Expenditure     

 Auditors remuneration  206 685 134 452 

Bad debts  81 380 - 

Bank charges  24 865 25 402 

Car and travelling expenses  217 912 89 661 

Computer expenses  929 743 432 401 

Depreciation and Amortisation 2 & 3 526 627 445 486 

Directors fees  197 640 253 322 

Employee costs  16 952 907 15 539 718 

Entertainment  27 133 26 843 

Finance lease interest  14 153 3 505 

General expenses  24 190 22 252 

Group Call Centre  88 665 - 

Insurances  99 483 90 318 

Legal fees / Consulting fees  74 242 92 403 

Post-retirement medical aid benefits interest cost 6 35 700 32 152 

Postages and telephones  530 374 454 707 

Property expenses  1 768 375 1 104 957 

Public relations  361 594 538 799 

Repairs and maintenance  29 812 47 448 

Staff welfare  165 816     164 121 

Stationery  493 477 492 543 

    

   22 850 773 19 990 490 

Net surplus for the year  602 745 2 855 060 

The detailed income statement presented above does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.

Detailed income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Letters of Appreciation

I simply cannot find the words to tell you how grateful I am to everybody in your organisation who helped me win my battle.  
You all have done a tremendous job for me, you really help the man in the street. 
Thank you very much.

I highly appreciate your prompt response to the queries I raised as well as the professionalism that prevails in your dealing 
with issues.

I would like to thank your office for the excellent way in which my complaint was handled and resolved.  I thank God that we 
have an Ombudsman who is fair to both parties, efficient and independent.

I again sincerely thank all of you.  May God bless you guys for helping me with this.  I am actually speechless at the moment and 
almost in tears as I felt that me having to pay was really unfair.  Please pass on the biggest thank you 
to all at your office.

We, once again, wish to thank you and your office staff. We appreciate having a representative to speak to the insurance 
company. You are doing an excellent job.

I am extremely pleased with the outcome and wish to take this opportunity to say a big thank you for your Office’s assistance 
in resolving this matter.  Your assistance was crucial in reaching a fair outcome. 
Many, many thanks!

Thanks a million for the valuable and professional service you have provided. Your contribution and dedication in ensuring 
customer satisfaction is highly appreciated, you have done an excellent job.  At last, justice has been done on my claim. 
“I am over the moon”.

Thank you for the good service and the effort taken to resolve the matter.  We highly appreciate the manner and the 
professional way the complaint has been handled.

I commend you on the prompt response and the excellent service received from yourself.

Thank you very much for your assistance. You have dealt superbly with my case, the turn-around time in which the matter was 
resolved was miraculous.

Thank you for dealing with my case, and this case is now completed. I thank you for such a professional approach to a time 
when I needed someone.
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The Team

Edite Teixeira-Mckinon - General Manager

Azeht Du Plessis - Bookkeeper/Office Manager
Miriam Matabane - Operations Manager/Company Secretary
Anastatia Ngidi-Mkhwanazi - Call Centre Manager

(from left to right)
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Adriaan Lombard, Johan Janse van Rensburg(top row)

(top row)

(bottom row)

(bottom row)

Valerie Mngadi, Thasnim Dawood 
Assistant Ombudsmen

Peter Nkhuna, John TheunissenDarpana Harkison and Wynand van Vuuren  
Senior Assistant Ombudsmen Dharmita Jogee, Nosipho Mfeka

Assistant Ombudsmen
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Terms of reference  

1. Preamble

1.1  The Ombudsman is appointed to serve the interest of the 

insuring public and all short-term Insurers registered under 

the Short-term Insurance Act and including Lloyds. The 

Ombudsman provides, free of charge, an accessible, informal 

and speedy dispute resolution process to Policy Holders who 

have disputes with their Insurers where those disputes fall 

within the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction.

1.2  The Ombudsman acts independently and objectively in 

resolving disputes and is not under instructions from anybody 

when exercising his or her authority. The Ombudsman 

resolves disputes using the criteria of law, equity and fairness. 

These Terms of Reference define the powers and duties of 

the Ombudsman.

1.3  The services rendered by the Ombudsman are not the same 

as those rendered by a professional legal advisor and are 

confined purely to resolution in terms of clause 3.1 below or 

mediation or conciliation in an attempt to settle complaints.

2. Definitions

In these terms of reference the following expressions have the 

following meanings:

2.1  “the Board” means the Board of Directors of the Ombudsman 

for Short-term Insurance (Association Incorporated under 

Section 21);

2.2  “the Complainant” means any Policy Holder who makes a 

complaint to the Ombudsman in respect of any insurance 

services provided by their Insurer ; 

2.3  “Ruling” means, with respect to a complaint, a written directive 

issued by the Ombudsman which is binding on the Insurer 

and which is based either in law or equity;

2.4  “the Ombudsman” means the Ombudsman for Short-

term Insurance appointed from time to time by the Board 

of the Ombudsman for Short-term Insurance (Association 

Incorporated under Section 21);

2.5  “Ombudsman’s office” means the office of the Ombudsman 

established to perform the functions set out in these terms of 

reference;

2.6  “Policy” means a short term insurance Policy issued by an 

Insurer to a Policy Holder;

2.7  “Policy Holder” means the person entitled to be provided with 

the Policy benefits under a Policy;

2.8  “Insurer” means a short-term Insurer registered as such in 

terms of the Shortterm Insurance Act of 1998;

3.  The Ombudsman’s Powers and Duties

3.1 The Ombudsman shall:

 3.1.1 act within these terms of reference;

 3.1.2  receive complaints relating to the provision within the 

Republic of South Africa of insurance services by an 

Insurer to a Policy Holder;

 3.1.3  resolve such complaints, relating to the provision of 

insurance services, by agreement or by the making of a 

ruling or by such other means as may seem expedient, 

subject to these terms of reference.

3.2  The Ombudsman should advise the public on the procedure 

Although widespread in the Afrotropics, the African Openbill 
has a small population in South Africa. Several key wetland 
Important Bird Areas support these unusual storks.

African Openbill

STATUS: NEAR-THREATENED

© PETER HAYMAN
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for making a complaint to the Ombudsman’s office and should 

take such steps as are reasonably possible conducive to client 

and industry education and training. The Ombudsman shall 

in his annual report referred to in clause 3.9 below provide 

details of steps taken in this regard.

3.3  On receipt of a complaint in the prescribed format, the 

Ombudsman will notify the Insurer of the complaint by 

providing the details of the complaint to the Insurer, and the 

Insurer shall then be obliged to give all relevant information 

and assistance required (including documentation requested 

by the Ombudsman) to enable the Ombudsman to assess 

fully the merits of the complaint.

3.4  During any period in which the Ombudsman is unable to 

exercise his duties owing to absence, incapacity or death or 

in a situation where a conflict of interest may arise, the Board 

may appoint a deputy or acting Ombudsman to act in place 

of the Ombudsman.

3.5  The Ombudsman shall have the overall responsibility for the 

conduct of the day to day administration and business of 

the Ombudsman’s office. The Ombudsman may appoint an 

Administrator to be responsible to him for day to day matters 

of administration of the Ombudsman’s office.

3.6  The Ombudsman shall have the power on behalf of the 

Ombudsman’s office to appoint and dismiss employees, 

consultants, legal experts, independent contractors and agents 

and to determine their salaries, fees, terms of employment or 

engagement.

3.7  The Ombudsman shall have the power to incur expenditure 

on behalf of the Ombudsman’s office in accordance with the 

current financial budget approved by the Board.

3.8  he Ombudsman shall give the Board any information and 

assistance which it reasonably requires, including the making 

of recommendations to the Board on any issues which the 

Ombudsman believes requires the Board’s attention.

3.9  The Ombudsman shall publish an annual report on the 

activities of the office, which shall be published by 30 May of 

each year. Such report will be available to the public.

4. The Jurisdiction of the Ombudsman

4.1  The Ombudsman shall only consider a complaint made to him 

if he is satisfied that:

4.1.1  the complaint is not the subject of existing litigation;

4.1.2  the complaint is not the subject of an instruction to an 

attorney in contemplation of litigation against the relevant 

Insurer except where the attorney has simply assisted the 

Policy Holder in bringing the application to the Ombudsman;

4.1.3  the complaint does not involve a monetary claim in excess 

of R1 million, but the Insurer concerned may agree in writing 

to this limitation being exceeded. This R1 million limit shall 

be subject to review on an annual basis;

4.1.4  the complaint is made by a Policy Holder or a duly authorised 

representative of the Policy Holder to whom or for whom 

the insurance services in question were provided;

4.1.5  the complaint relates to any dispute in regard to a Policy 

and/or any Claim or Claims thereunder or any dispute in 

regard to insurance premiums, or any dispute on the legal 

construction of the Policy wording relating to a particular 

complaint complying with the requirements of this clause 4.1;

4.1.6  the Complainant has tried unsuccessfully to resolve the 

dispute through approaches to the Insurer’s management or 

its internal complaints handling section;

4.1.7  the complaint is being pursued reasonably by the Complainant 

and not in a frivolous, vexatious, offensive, threatening or 

abusive manner, as the Ombudsman may decide in his or 

her sole discretion;

4.1.8  the complaint has not become prescribed in terms of the 

Prescription Act, 1969 or any enforceable time bar provisions 

contained in the Policy.

4.2  Should a complaint be lodged with the Ombudsman’s office 

and thereafter the Complainant refers such dispute to an 

attorney for the further conduct of the dispute and/or direct 

correspondence with the Insurer, or for litigation, then the 

Ombudsman will immediately withdraw from the matter.

4.3  With the written consent of an Insurer and at his discretion 

the Ombudsman may investigate a complaint which exceeds 

his jurisdiction.

4.4  A Complainant may at any time terminate the Ombudsman’s 

adjudication of the complaint and resort to litigation.

5.  Limits on the Jurisdiction of the Ombudsman 

Subject to these terms of reference, the Ombudsman shall have 

the power to consider a complaint made to him except:

5.1  Where the Ombudsman determines that it is more 

appropriate that the complaint be dealt with by a court of law 

or through any other dispute resolution process;

5.2 Where the matter is already under the consideration by the 

person appointed to adjudicate disputes in terms of the Financial 

Advisory and Intermediary Services Act.

6. Time Barring Provisions

6.1  Any enforceable time bar clauses in terms of a Policy shall not 

run against a Complainant and shall be interrupted during the 

period that the complaint is under consideration before the 

Ombudsman. In particular, the Insurer waives and abandons 

Terms of reference
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all or any rights to rely in subsequent litigation on any time 

barring provisions in the Policy applying to the commencement 

of litigation after rejection of a claim, or after the happening 

forming the subject of the claim or after notification of the 

claim. In the event of the complaint being finalised in the office 

of the Ombudsman the Complainant shall have 30 (thirty) 

days or the remaining period of the time bar provision of 

the relevant policy, whichever is the longer, within which to 

institute proceedings against the relevant Insurer, provided 

however, that the Claim had not already become time barred 

in terms of the Policy when the complaint was received by the 

Ombudsman.

6.2  For the purposes of clause 6.1, the time during which a matter 

is before the Ombudsman shall (provided that the complaint 

is accepted for adjudication) commence on the day that it 

is lodged with the Ombudsman’s office to the time that the 

Ombudsman dismisses the complaint or makes a Ruling.

6.3  Save as may be otherwise provided in any other legislation 

relating to or governing the Ombudsman, the lodging of any 

complaint with the Ombudsman shall in no way affect the 

running of prescription in terms of the Prescription Act, 1969 

in respect of such complaint.

7. Rulings

7.1  When all the material facts are agreed or the facts have been 

established to the Ombudsman’s satisfaction on a balance of 

probabilities, the Ombudsman may make a Ruling.

7.2  Rulings shall be based on the law and equity.

7.3  Where a material fact cannot be established or cannot be 

resolved on a clear balance of probabilities the Ombudsman 

may not make a Ruling. In such cases the Ombudsman shall 

advise the Complainant that the complaint is not one on 

which he or she can assist and that alternative recourse may 

be sought through the courts.

7.4  Any Ruling made by the Ombudsman shall be binding on the 

Insurer concerned.

8.  Policy Holder/Complainants Rights

The Policy Holder/Complainant’s rights to institute proceedings in 

any competent court of law against the Insurer shall not be affected 

by any of the provisions of these terms of reference provided 

that, if the Policy Holder/Complainant institutes proceedings while 

the complaint is under investigation by the Ombudsman, the 

provisions of clause 4.2 shall apply.

9. Precedents

Rulings shall not establish any precedent in the Ombudsman’s office.

10. Confidentiality

10.1  The Ombudsman shall as far as possible, maintain secrecy 

unless the parties concerned expressly exempt him or 

her from that duty and the duty shall continue after the 

termination of his or her services. The duty of secrecy shall 

not prevent the Ombudsman in his or her annual report 

from setting out the facts of any case though he or she shall 

refrain from mentioning names in his or her report.

10.2  The Insurer and the Complainant shall not be entitled to 

make use of any information which comes to their knowledge 

as a result of the intervention of the Ombudsman during the 

course of any investigation by him or her.

10.3  A complaint will be regarded as confidential as between the 

Policy Holder, the Insurer and the Ombudsman and it is for 

the Ombudsman to decide what should be disclosed to the 

Insurer and/or the Policy Holder.

10.4  Documents brought into being as a result of any approach to 

the Ombudsman shall not be liable to disclosure or be the 

subject of a discovery order or subpoena in the event of any 

legal proceedings between the Complainant and the Insurer.

10.5  The Ombudsman or any member of his staff will not be 

liable to be subpoenaed to give evidence on the subject of a 

complaint in any proceedings.

11. Complaints not settled in defined Period 

The Ombudsman shall report to the Board all complaints, which 

have not been completed in one or way or another within a time, 

laid down by the Board. This time period shall initially be set at 6 

(six) months calculated from the date that a complaint became an 

accepted complaint.

Terms of reference

The White-winged Flufftail is one of five Critically Endangered 
birds in South Africa. Only known from one other country, 
Ethiopia, the future of this enigmatic is dependent on the work 
which the Middelpunt Wetland Trust, under the auspices of 
BirdLife South Africa, will undertake. This includes the initiation 
of a captive breeding programme.

White-winged Flufftail

STATUS: CRITICALLY ENDANGERED

© PETER HAYMAN
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Members of the board

Gail Walters (Chairman)
Head of Group Corporate Affairs, The Hollard Insurance 
Company Limited

Wendy Knowler (Vice Chairman)
Consumer journalist

Leigh Bennie
Consumer journalist

Thami Bolani
Chairman of the National Consumer Forum

Gari Dhombo
Managing Director, Alexander Forbes Insurance Company

Jonathan Dixon
Deputy Executive Officer: Insurance Division, Financial 
Services Board

Gerhard Genis
Head of Quality Management and Training, Santam Limited

Lillibeth Moolman
Chairperson, South African National Consumer Union

Barry Scott
Chief Executive, The South African Insurance Association

Members of the Ombudsman scheme

• ABSA Insurance Company Limited

• Ace Insurance Company Limited

• Alexander Forbes Insurance Company

• Allianz Insurance Company

• Auto & General Insurance Company Limited

• Centriq Insurance Company Limited

• Chartis South Africa Limited

• Compass Insurance Company Limited

• Constantia Insurance Company Limited

• Customer Protection Insurance Company Limited

• Dial Direct Insurance Limited

• Discovery Insure Limited

• Emerald Insurance Company Limited

• Etana Insurance Company Limited

• Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

• The Hollard Insurance Company Limited

• Indequity Specialised Insurance Limited

• Infiniti Risk Solutions

• JDG Micro Insurance Limited

• Legal Wise Insurance South Africa

• Lion of Africa insurance Company Limited

• Lloyd’s

• Lombard Insurance Group

• McSure Limited

• Momentum Short-Term Insurance

• MiWay Insurance Limited

• Monarch Insurance Company Limited

• Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited

• Natsure Limited

• Nedgroup Insurance Company Limited

• New National Assurance Company Limited

• NMS Insurance Company Limited

• Oakhurst Insurance Company Limited

• Old Mutual Health Insurance Limited

• Outsurance Insurance Company Limited

• Regent Insurance Company Limited

• Relyant Insurance Company Limited

• Renasa Insurance Company Limited

• Resolution Insurance Company

• RMB Structured Insurance

• SA Home Loans Insurance Company Limited

• SAFIRE Insurance Company Limited

• Santam Limited

• SASRIA Limited

• Saxum Insurance Company Limited

• Shoprite Insurance Company

• Standard Insurance Limited

• Unitrans Insurance Limited

• Unity Insurance Limited

• Western National Insurance Company Limited

• Zurich Insurance Company Limited
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Staff of the Ombudsman office during 2011

Ombudsman  
Brian Martin
General Manager 
Edite Teixeira-McKinon
Senior Assistant 
Ombudsmen 
Darpana Harkison
Wynand van Vuuren
Assistant 
Ombudsmen 
Adriaan Lombard
Dharmita Jogee
John Theunissen
Johan Janse van Rensburg
Nosipho Mfeka
Peter Nkhuna
Thasnim Dawood
Valerie Mngadi
Operations Manager/
Company Secretary 
Miriam Matabane

Bookkeeper/Office 
Manager 
Azeht du Plessis
Call Centre Manager 
Anastatia Ngidi-
Mkhwanazi
Call Centre Consultants 
Jo-Anne Goqo
Louisah Letlhabe
Melissa van Zyl
Selinah Phakoe
Mary Tshabalala
Accounts Assistant 
Leonie Budricks
Receptionist 
Gadija Fisher
Clerical 
Mavis Mabaso
Sibongile Gumede

Office Cleaner/
Clerical assistant 
Mariam Khampepe
Secretarial 
Aadielah Human
Anne-Marie Cijster
Brümilda Blignaut
Candice Holmes
Cecilie van Dyk
Claudia Kampmann
Jade Carvalho
Joanne Sergel
Karinien Kok
Katia Lo Drago
Michelle Grobler 
Monica Bolgann
Sharon Anderson
Vantera Joseph

From left to right: Katia Lo Drago, Jade Carvalho, Claudia Kampmann, Leonie Budricks, Michelle Grobler, Monica Bolgann, Jo-Anne 
Goqo, Melissa van Zyl, Mavis Mabaso, Vantera Joseph, Louisah Letlhabe, Brümilda Blignaut, Sharon Anderson, Mary Tshabalala, 
Aadielah Human, Mariam Khampepe, Anne-Marie Cijster, Candice Holmes, Karinien Kok, Sibongile Gumede, Joanne Sergel, 
Selinah Phakoe, Gadija Fisher     

Brian Martin  
Ombudsman 2007-2011



Useful information about other offices

1. Ombudsman for Long-Term Insurance

2. The Statutory Ombudsman

3. The Ombud for Financial Service Providers

4. The Ombudsman for Banking Services

5. The Credit Ombud

6. The Pension Funds Adjudicator

7. The National Credit Regulator

8. Public Protector

9. The Financial Services Board

10. Financial Ombudsman Call Centre
Sharecall: 0860OMBUDS/0860662837

Private Bag X45, Claremont 7735
Telephone: 021 657 5000
Sharecall: 0860 103 236
Fax: 021 674 0951
E-mail: info@ombud.co.za

PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040
Sharecall: 0860 324 766
Telephone: 012 470 9080
Fax: 012 348 3447
Email: info@faisombud.co.za

PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040
Sharecall: 0860 324 766
Telephone: 012 470 9080
Fax: 012 348 3447
Email: info@faisombud.co.za

PO Box 87056, Houghton, 2041
Sharecall: 0860 800 900
Telephone: 011 712 1800
Fax: 011 483 3212
Email: info@obssa.co.za

Postnet Suite 444, Private Bag 1
Jukskei Park, 2153
Call Centre: 0861 622 837
Fax: 0866 834 644
Email: ombud@creditombud.org.za

PO Box 651826, Benmore, 2010
Telephone: 087 942 2700
Fax: 087 942 2644
Email: enquires-jhb@pfa.org.za

PO Box 2209, Halfway House, Midrand, 1685
Call Centre: 0860 627 627
Fax: 011 805 4905
Email: info@ncr.org.za or complaints@ncr.org.za
Telephone: 011 554 2600

Private Bag X677, Pretoria, 0001
Telephone: 012 366 7000
Fax: 012 632 3473 / 0865 753 292
Email: Elainei@pprotect.org

PO Box 35655, Menlo Park, 0102
Toll-free: 0800 110 443 or 0800 202 087
Telephone: 012 428 8000
Fax: 012 347 0870
Email: info@fsb.co.za

BirdLife South Africa
BirdLife South Africa is the only dedicated bird conservation NGO in South Africa and its work focuses on the protection of our 
country’s birds and their habitats. In order to do this important work, BirdLife South Africa needs support from people and companies 
who care about the environment (see www.birdlife.org.za, 011 – 789 1122).

Our appreciation is expressed to Random House Struik for their kind permission in allowing us to reproduce the bird illustrations 
used in this Annual Report. Bird Illustrations are extracted from the publication ‘Sasol Birds of Southern Africa’ and are copyright to 
illustrators Peter Hayman and Norman Arlott, and publishers Struik Nature.
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CONTACT US
Sunnyside Office Park, 5th Floor, Building D
32 Princess of Wales Terrace,
Parktown

P O Box 32334, Braamfontein, 2017

Share Call Number: 0860 726 890
Telephone: 011 726-8900
Facsimile: 011 726-5501
Email: info@osti.co.za
Website: http://www.osti.co.za
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